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Preface

1. These essays reflect my preoccupation with, and involve-
ment in, the foreign policy of Pakistan since our rise to state-
hood. As independent states in an interlocking system,
India, Pakistan and Afghanistan have failed to evolve the
instintional and procedural framework which would have
allowed them to solve their problems in a mutually compati-
ble manner. Pakistan’s efforts and shortcomings in trying
to reach this objective have been my main concern.

2. My thirty three years of professional diplomacy in the
Pakistan foreign service have revolved around the two major
constant challenges that confront us in the field of diplomacy
and national security. The first is how to safeguard our
territorial integrity and political independence from being
weakened by the remorseless pull of centrifugal forces
deliberately generated by India.

The second is towards securing Afghanistan’s abandon-
ment of its irridentist claims by its recognition of the validity
of the present Pak-Afghan border. Any analysis of our past
successes or failures must begin by using our flawed record
on these two issues as a measures, as indeed must any pres-
cription for future policy.

3. In a democratic country the conduct of foreign policy
is left to the government of the day and its foreign policy
establishment in the trust that they will maintain and further
national interests which remain permanent and pre-eminent
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at all times. A country’s foreign policy has two aspects, its
formulation and the mode of its execution.

4. Foreign policy In a democratic country is formulated
by the cabinet with the approval of a sovereign body com-
posed of the elected representatives of the people, and
carried out by seasoned diplomats who can from their
vantage points, offer their own observations and proposals.
Formulated and put into practice in this manner, the foreign
policy of a democratic country is based on a national consen-
sus.

5. The key element of this process is lacking when formula-

tion is in the exclusive hands of a ruling few, who, by the
very nature of the dispensation by which they rule, are not
dependent on having to base their decisions on a national
consensus. Such a ruling class becomes the sole guardian and
arbitrator of the national interest. At the same time, unfor-
tunately for such countries, for these elites their own interests
and self survival becomes identical to the interests of the
state. There is no covenant or contract between the rulers
and the ruled whose active consent the rulers are either
unable or disinterested to obtain.

6. How should Pakistan, therefore, proceed in the difficult
and dangerous circumstances we now find ourselves in? To
begin with, as I have elaborated in these essays, we must
adopt a firm and abiding commitment to democracy and
democratic institutions which alone can help us to forge
a national consensus which is the sine qua non of a successful
foreign policy. Secondly, we must recognize that priority in
resource allocation must be given to education. Without that
we will have no hope of overcoming the daunting develop-
mental challenges that we face. Perhaps it is not the case,
but it would almost appear that education has been tradi-
tionally given such low priority to further facilitate arbitrary
administration and to ensure a captive population incapable
of enlightened and independent thought and action. Only
the advancement of equitable and just socio-economic
conditions will give our people the strongest stake in the



country’s future and a readiness to sacrifice in response to
challenges that will surely arise.

7. “Without the vision of the leaders, the people perish’’.
The spirit behind my essays has been to make our people
ponder on our plight and how we can redress it. If they
provoke a critical discussion on the fundamental issues of
our foreign policy and national security, I would deem the
effort worthwhile.

Islamabad Sajjad Hyder
October, 1986.



1
ASSIGNMENT DELHI-1947

~ Compared to the pomp and show New Delhi was to wit-
ness the following day, the first Independence Day celebrat-
jons on August 14, 1947, were a tame affair. Amidst a small
gathering of Pakistanis, mostly Karachi-bound officials,
Pakistan’s first High Commissioner in New Delhi, Zahid
Hussain, raised the old Muslim League flag in a brief but
dignified ceremony. His diplomatic staff consisted of Akhtar
Hussain, an 1.C.S. officer of the U.P. cadre, who had been
appointed First Secretary and Mohammad Ashraf, Steno-
grapher. Gul-E-Rana, Prime Minister Liaquat Al Khan’s
residence, was to serve both as the official residence of the
High Commissioner and the Chancery. The High Com-
mission was equipped with one type-writer and a hired Buick
car, which was soon to be impounded by a zealous Indian
police inspector, with the result that when hell was let loose
in Delhi on September 6, Pakistan’s first diplomatic mission
in India was without a motor vehicle.

Also present at the High Commission on the occasion
were three optees from the Indian Foreign Service,who were
being trained along with others at Metcalf House In Old.
Delhi. Forming the nucleus of the Indian Foreign Service,
there were 13 probationers who had been set apart from
the 150 odd officers of the Indian Armed Forces selected for
the war reserved vacancies in the Indian Civil and Political
Services. They had undergone rigorous tests, first at a Sele-
ction Board in Dehra Dun and then at the Federal Public
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Service Commission in Simla. However, before receiving
their oppointments, they were further interviewed by a
formidable Board at the Ministry of External Affairs, and
finally by Pandit Nehru himself. As India’s first Minister of
External Affairs, Pandit Ji quizzed each one of the 5 Muslim
candidates about Pakistan in chaste Urdu. Only 4 could meet
his personal approval.

Before leaving for Karachi, Ikramullah, our first great
Foreign Secretary, asked M.J. Desai, Director of Metcalf
House, to depute one of the three optees to the Pakistan
High Commission to serve as Third Secretary. For some
reason, Desai’s choice fell on me, and I took up my first
diplomatic assignment at the High Commission for Pakistan
on September 1, 1947. Sultan Khan and Iftikhar Ali joined
me a few days later. The Chancery was far from organised as
yet. It consisted of only two rooms, one of which Liaquat
Ali Khan’s panalled library, served as the High Com-
missioner’s office with a small adjoining room as the First
Secretary’s office. I was allotted a corner in this office. Our
one and only stenographer sat in a small room in another
wing of the house. Our lines of communication with Karachi
were limited to the commercial telegraph and telephone,
both of which were about to be sorely tested, and found to
be totally inadequate.

On September 4, Dilip, a friend and classmate of my
brother called on us at Pataudi House, where I was staying
with my wife and young son. He insisted that Afza and Tariq
should leave for Pakistan at once. Afza tried to argue
with him, saying that, as officially assigned members of our
first diplomatic Mission to India, we would surely be entitled
to protection by the host Government. However, Dilip
would not listen. Before he left, Afza handed over to him
her jewel box. Not only was this box returned to me intact
on my departure from New Delhi but in the meanwhile Dilip
would slip into the High Commission, whenever he could, to
enquire after me and to bring some food. It is my lasting
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regret that out of concern for his safety, I could not see Dilip
during my two subsequent assignments to New Delhi. It was
thanks to people in Pakistan and India like Dilip that, in
those dark days of madness, faith in human decency was kept
alive. Afza and Tariq were evacuated to Lahore on the
morning of September 6 after a couple of harrowing night-
long vigils at the Transit office behind South Block.

HELL LET LOOSE

o _ On my return to Pataudi House I found Syed Ali Jawad,
. . Secretary to the Princes’ chamber and his family occupying
J our rooms. They had to leave their beautiful apartment in
Sujan Singh Park in the middle of the night because the hell,
which we in the Mission had feared, had broken out. The
High Commission was full of people from all over Old and
New Delhi, even outlying villages, reporting of mid-night
attacks, killings and arson. Telephone calls for help kept
coming throughout the day. By the evening, refugees started
pouring in. We did not know what to do with them. Except
for occasional forays none of us could leave the Mission for
the next 4 weeks. - In fact, till some semblance of calm had
returned to Delhi, thanks to intervention at the highest level
— that is, by Pandit Nehru himself, who was seen rushing off
to riot-affected areas and beating off the looters and killers
with his own hands. However, it was Mahtama Gandhi’s fast
unto death which finally did the trick. He was to pay for it
with his life the following January.

But, before a Muslim could stir out in safety anywhere
in Delhi, some 10,000 Muslims had sought refuge in our High
Commission, which was ill-equipped to look after them. In
the resulting state of chaos, the High Commissioner, a noble
soul in a frail body, was taken ill. The whole thing wastoo
much for him. It was with great difficulty that we could
persuade him to go and make representations to the Govern-
ment of India on behalf of the fleeing Muslims of Delhi, and
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of our beleaguard Mission. The state of our security was such
that incoming refugees were being hacked to death in front
of our gates, and we feared that the Mission would be attack-

ed at any time.

The High Commissioner did go and represent but he got
no change from whomever he saw.Frustrated, he soon left for
Karachi, never to return. No longer able to assess the dimen-
sions of the problem we faced in Delhi, the Foreign Office in
Karachi sent for our First Secretary for consultations, and
promptly grounded him there. The Mission was now left in
the charge of 3 inexperienced young officers. On taking
stock of the situation, we quickly decided that our main pro-
blem was four-fold: the immediate appointment of a new
High Commissioner and his deputy, the security of the Miss-
ion and those seeking refuge in it, the means of feeding the
refugees, whose number was increasing by the hour, and the
provision of adequate facilities for accommodating the seeth-
ing mass of humanity on our hands. The last being hopeless-
ly insoluable, we addressed ourselves to the other three.

A telephone conversation with Karachi brought the
good news that Mian Abdul Aziz, a senior civil servant from
the Punjab and a noted writer of Urdu prose, had been
appointed our Acting High Commissioner. Mian Abdul Aziz
had sought refuge with us and we had suggested his name to
our Foreign Office as a suitable candidate. A few days later,
Mansell, a British Officer of the Indian Political Service, was
appointed as First Secretary. However, he took a number of
days to come from the Residency in Hyderabad.

While Mian Abdul Aziz’s appointment was being con-
veyed to the Government of India, we got busy with the
security of our premises and of the inmates. Iftikhar Al
quickly organised a posse of volunteers to safeguard the
house round the clock. To arm them, all incoming refugees
were deprived of their firearms and ammunition. They were
also made to deposit all their food which we then distributed
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Assignment Delhi 5

as best as we could manage. Soon afterwards a Muslim
platoon of the 6th Rajputana Rifles came to the High Co-
mmission under the command of then Major Haq Nawaz.
The safety of our premises and inmates was assured from
then on and all'incidents outside our gates ceased.

Accommodation and food being our next problem, we
separated the men from the women and children, who were
confined to the first floor of the house. Begum Shoaib, her
two daughters and Mrs. 7aheeruddin were put incharge of the

ladies’ section. Naturally a number of small children in this

part of the hause could not bear the pangs of hunger as the
men down below could. Before the refugees could be moved
to the Purana Qila (Old Fort) no fewer than 20 babies were
born upstairs! How to feed these hungry, crying children was
one of our most harrowing problems. Luckily, Col. Bannet,
the American Military Attache, came in on the second or
third day of our ordeal to leave one of his Muslim domestic
servants with us. We told him of the children’s plight. He
came back within an hour with 40 crates of dried milk. The
children upstairs could be fed again!

What about the hungry adults down stairs? The autho-
rities in Pakistan, knowing of our plight, came up with a
novel solution. A British Alrways fleet had been com-
missioned by the Government of Pakistan to evacuate refu-
gees from Delhi. It was decided that daily cooked food
supplies would be flown in by these planes from Karachi.
The first lot of cooked food arrived as we began to move the
refugees out. We divided the food into two parts.

The first was taken to the Purana Qila where 1t was
snatched away before we could even begin to off load the
food or distribute it in an orderly fashion. The other,smaller
portion of the food went to the High Commission where we
distributed it as frugally as possible. Much of the credit for
this food lift went to Begum Raana Liaquat Ali Khan and a
band of selfless women working under her guidance and
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inspiration.

The refugee evacuation was quite an exercise in itself.
Lists of those intending to leave had to be prepared each
day and then the evacuees had to be taken to Palam Airport
early in the morning in a fleet of buses provided by the
Indian authorities. Government officials and their dependants
had precedence over others as the offices in Karachi were
still half empty. Our first priority was, of course, to save as
many persons as possible and to send them to security
across the boder.

Many of those sent by train from New Delhi never
made it to Pakistan. It was the same story in the reverse
direction. Appeals for help kept coming from all parts of
old and new Delhi. The only way we could help in rescuing
those strandard in distant areas was to don our old Indian
Army uniforms,complete with side arms,and to press Akhtar
Hussain’s abandoned military vehicle into service to go out
on rescue forays. Dr. Ishtiag Hussain Qureshi was amongst
those we rescued from Old Delhi. The rescue of Dr. Rahim’s
elder brother, also a doctor, who had returned to New
Delhi in a fit of sectarian zeal, was a touch and go affair.

Our Acting High Commissioner, Mian Abdul Aziz was
with us for a few days only. He was summarily recalled on
the orders of the Quaid-e-Azam himself. During a meeting
with some Indian officials, despite the appalling conditions
in which our refugees precariously existed, he had allowed
himself to be persuaded into giving a statement to the press
praising the generosity and kindness of the Indian Govern-
ment in setting up the Purana Qila refugee camp.

It was my first introduction to the time honoured dic-
tum of Talleyrand that above all diplomats should eschew
being overzealous. Moreover this object lesson, whose validity
has been reaffirmed time and time again in my experience,
was that statesmen have a far more finely honed perception
than officials of matters of public weal. It took the Quaid
not more than a few minutes to realise with what abhorrence
this unwise and untimely action of his Acting High Com-
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missioner in New Delhi would be received in Kot Lakhpat
and other refugee camps all over Pakistan.



2

“THE VISIT THAT
NEVER WAS”

A LOT has been said and written about Liaquat Al
' Khan having gone to the United States in May 1950, in pre-
ference to the Soviet Union, from which he had received an
invitation almost a year earlier. It is even said that he secured
the invitation from Moscow only to prod the United States
into extending the same courtesy to him that they had shown
to Pandit Nehru, who was to visit the United States, at Pre-
sident Truman’s invitation, in October, 1949, It is time to
set the record straight.

It will be recalled that by the time both Pakistan and
India became independent, the cold war in Europe was well
under way, and that both the Super-Powers were looking for
friends and allies who would be willing to stand up and be
counted. The American choice fell upon India as Mahatma
Ghandhi and Jawaharlal Nehru were household names in
America, thanks to President Roosvelt’s efforts during the
war to secure an interim dominion status for India, and to
years of hard work in America by Dr. Syed Ahmed and J.dJ.
Singh, advocates of the Indian Congress Party.

The All India Muslim League was not unaware of these
facts, and well before partition the Quaid-e-Azam had sent
abroad a number of personal envoys to enlist support for the
cause of the Indian Muslims. As Commerce Minister in the
interim Government, I.I. Chundrigar sent out a number of
Trade Delegations, all of them composed of only Muslim
Leaguers, for the same purpose. Chundrigar followed the

8
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The Visit That Never-Was 9

same policy in appointing India’s Trade Commissioners
abroad.

The first Ambassador to go to America immediately
after Partition was Mirza Abul Hassan Ispahani, who happ-
ended to be one of the Quaid’s trusted young lieutenants.
His was an uphill task as a sizeable section of influential
opinion in America held that the partition of India was a sad

~ mistake. As I served under him, on my transfer from New

Delhi at the end of 1947, I can bear witness to Ambassador
Ispahani’s ceaseless efforts to make Pakistan and what 1t

- *“stood for known throughout America. That we ran the show

from two rooms in the Shorham Hotel in Washington D.C. on
a shoestring budget, did not seem to bother him at all. His
energy, stemming from his love for Pakistan and the Quaid,
knew no bounds. A tall, handsome and urbane man from
one of Calcutta’s most wealthy families, he impressed all he
met. He drew no salary for himself.

(¥ The next important man to go out, in the context of
this story, was Raja Ghazanfar Ali. A seasoned politician and
member of the Central Cabinet, he did equally great work for
Pakistan in Teheran. - Raja Sahib had that rare touch of a
politician in handling diplomatic affairs that was a matter of
envy for his less gifted colleagues. A heavy weight, Raja
Sahib gave back as good as he took from the Foreign Office
and other Ministries of the Federal Government. It was he
who laid the foundation of our close relationship with Iran.

Establishing diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union
was something of a problem for both Pakistan and India. Be-
ing Dominions, the British Ambassador in Moscow looked
after their interests till such times as their Ambassadors could
arrive, equipped with letters of credence signed by King
George VI, no less. India was able to solve this problem be-
fore Pakistan. As Minister for External Affairs in the Interim

 Government, Pandit Nehru sent his own sister, the dynamic

Mrs. Vijay Lakshmi Pandit, as India’s first Ambassador to the
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Soviet Union. She presented her credentials to the Soviet
President on August 13, 1947.

This act was an earnest of what Pandit Nehru had said in
a radio broadcast on the assumption of office as Minister of
External Affairs in the Interim Government while referring to
the USSR, ‘“Inevitably we shall have to undertake many
common tasks and have much to do with each other"

We for our part took the initiative to reach an agree-
ment to exchange diplomatic Missions with Moscow. Acting
on instructions, Chaudhry Zafarullah Khan broached this
issue with the Soviet delegation at Lake Success in New York
in early April of 1948. He then addressed a diplomatic note
to Deputy Foreign Minister Gromyko on April 27, 1948 pro-
posing that the two countries exchange Ambassadors. The
Soviet Government agreed to this proposal by a return note
on May 1, 1948 and both sides agreed to the publication of
a joint communique in Moscow and Karachi on May 2,1948
to announce this agreement.

Notwithstanding these moves by New Delhi and Kara-
chi, Stalinist Moscow viewed both Pakistan and India with
suspicion. Despite Pandit Nehru’s declared intent of having
close relations with the USSR, Moscow described him and
other Indian leaders as ‘‘lackeys of British Imperialism’’. It 1s
not generally known that Stalin never received Mrs. Pandit,
who left Moscow for Washington in 1949.

While on his way back from a Commonwealth Prime
Minister’s Conference in London early in May 1949, Prime
Minister Liaquat Ali Khan made brief stops in Cairo, Baghdad
and Teheran. At Raja Ghazanfar Ali Khan’s instance the
Soviet Charge d’affaires was included among the guests the
Prime Minister and Begum Raana Liaquat Ali Khan enter-
tained at a dinner in Teheran. It was at this dinner that
Liaquat Ali Khan was sounded about a visit to the Soviet
Union. He indicated that he would not be averse to coming
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if he were formally asked. Raja Sahib had brought about this
exchange after a good deal of forethought and preparatory
work, without the benefit of any instructions from Karachi.
He was to repeat this performance during the Mussadaq
episode.

Early in June 1949, a formal invitation arrived from
Moscow through our Embassy in Teheran. It was accepted
with alacrity and public announcement made on June 8,
1949. The news attracted instant notice throughout the
world. It came as a rude surprise in India, where only a
month earlier — that is, May 7, 1949, Pandit Nehru had
announced that he had accepted an invitation to visit Ameri-
ca in October of that year. The months of June and July
were taken up in urgent consultations between Moscow and
Karachi about the dates of the visit. Moscow proposed the
middle of August 1949 as a suitable date for the Prime Minis-
ter’s arrival in the Soviet Union. Liaquat Ali Khan offered to
come within 2 or 3 days of Pakistan’s Independence Day
celebrations which take place on August 14.

He'also accepted a Soviet offer to travel by a Russian
plane and conveyed his keen desire to study economic plann-
ing, industrial and agricultural developments as well as pro-
jects for educational and cultural uplift. He further wished
to visit some of the Central Asian Republics. Brisk preparat-
ions were set afoot straight away, and a list of the Prime
Minister’s entourage of some 20 persons was drawn up. It
included not only officials representing various Ministries of
the Central Government, but also scientists and other acade-
mics who, it was hoped, would establish bilateral contacts in
their respective fields. The Prime Minister and Begum Lia-
quat Ali Khan’s personal staff was to include a young, dash-
ing Lt. Col. Yaqub Khan, who spoke Russian besides otaer
European languages. Little could he have known at the time
that one day he would be chosen to be Foreign Minister of
Pakistan.
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While exchanges about dates were going on the then
Finance Minister Ghulam Mohammad arrived in Washington
on an official tour at the end of August 1949, Inevitably, the
question of liaquat Ali Khan’s projected visit to the Soviet
Union camé¢ dp in his discussions with American officials.
The Americans offered to invite the Prime Minister to the
United States as well. Ghulam Mohammad encouraged the
idea and in conveying the gist of his conversations to Karachi
went as far as to suggest the invitation from Washington
should be given precedence over the earlier invitation from
Moscow. Ambassador Ispahani and all of us in-the Embassy
felt, rather strongly, that this was the wrong approach and
that the Prime Minister should go to Moscow first.

Ever since the opening of our Mission in Washington, we
had been conscious of the fact that Pakistan was being taken
for granted. The State Department appeared to believe that
as good, God fearing Muslims we would have nothing ever to
do with the Eastern bloc, that our fidelity to the Western
cause was unquestionable, and that we would not filinch
from any sacrifice in upholding Western values of ‘““‘democra-
cy and freedom’ Yet the U.S. also felt that it was India
which had to be groomed as the leader of Asia and its major
bulwark against Communism.

Hence our belief that a visit to Moscow wou'1 be a time-
ly reminder to the West that, as averred by both the Quaid
and our Prime Minister immediately after partition, Pakistan
had no intention of taking sides in the confrontation then
going on in Europe between the two Super-Powers over the
Berlin airlift and other manifestations of the cold war in
Turkey, Iran and Greece. Nor did we fail to notice the sudd-
en warmth in America’s attitude towards Pakistan and its
Mission in Washington after the Soviet invitation.

We might, however, have saved our breath, for back in
Karachi the Government needed no exhortations from us.
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Liaquat Ali Khan sincerely looked forward to his visit to the
Soviet Union which, he hoped, would help in laying the
foundations of a mutually beneficial cooperation between
our two countries despite the differences in our outlook and
belief. As the discussion about dates proceeded, we found
ourselves handicapped by lack of knowledge about the condi-

tions prevailing in Moscow.

The dates, for instance, proposed by us in August and
November 1949 overlooked the fact that by the middle of
August the top echelon of the Politbureau would be leaving

. * for the Crimea, and that November 7 is the date for cele-

brations of the Great October Revolution, when the entire
Politbureau with their chief guest, who usually happens to be
the leader of a Communist country, stand atop Lanin’s
Mausoleum to review the Red Army.

August came and went without any firm dates being set
for the visit. In September, the Soviets, all of a sudden, pro-
posed as a pre-condition that diplomatic Missions be ex-
changed prior to the visit. We were hard put to field this one
as we then had neither the personnel nor the means to open a
new Mission in Moscow. However, so keen was Liaquat Ali
Khan about the visit that Pakistan within two weeks of the
Soviet suggestion agreed forthwith to exchange Ambassadors
and asked the Soviet Government immediately to appoint an
Ambassador to Pakistan for whom accommodation would be
provided in Karachi.

In the second week of October, 1949 Pakistan requested
the agreement of the Soviet Government for its first Amba-
ssador to Moscow, Mr. Shoaib Qureshi. A small staff was
hurriedly assembled for him by milking such of our Missions
as we had on the ground at the time. Despite a correspond-
ing lack of urgency on the Soviet side in appointing and plac-
ing in position an Ambassador, after overcoming various lo-
gistic difficulties Shoaib Qureshi arrived in Moscow on De-
cember 21, 1949.
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The immediate appointment of our Ambassador in
response to the Soviet request and his arrival in Moscow was
an earnest of Liaquat Ali Khan’s desire to meet the Soviet
leadership and establish a relationship between the two coun-
tries that would be to their mutual benefit.

The invitation from Washington had been received and
accepted, as announced on December 10, 1949, before our
Ambassador’s arrival in Moscow. What seems to have weigh-
ed with our first Prime Minister was the fact that uniike Af-
ghanistan the Soviet Union had not opposed our admission to
the United Nations. Moreover, the USSR had agreea to our
membership of the Far Eastern Commission and sent a Trade
Delegation to Karachi. For our part, we had at that time in
our histroy made it quite clear that our stance would be one
of “friendship to all and malice towards none”, and that
Pakistan had no intention of joining any power bloc.

Clearly, there was a change of heart on the Soviet side.
In October 1949, the channel of communication between
Karachi and Moscow was suddenly shifted from Teheran to
New Delhi. It was through the Soviet Embassy in New Delhi
that a further postponement was conveyed to Karachi, which
left little doubt that yet another party had intervened in the
matter of Liaquat Ali Khan’s visit to Moscow.

It is a pity that Liaquat Ali Khan could not go to Mos-
cow in August or November of 1949 as he had offered to do
despite the American invitation. The history of Pakistan-
Soviet relations might have taken a different course had he
not been stood up. This missed opportunity hurt the in-
terests of both sides, albeit more so those of Pakistan than
those of its great neighbour. The chances of a subsequent
visit evaporated after Liaquat Ali Khan’s visit to the United
States when a host of considerations, Soviet indifference, the
Kashmir problem and Pakistan’s pressing defence require-
ments being amongst them, left Liaquat Ali Khan no option
but to come down on the American side. Thus begun, Pakis-
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tan-Soviet differences persisted until 1965, when Ayub Khan
chose, as a matter of considered policy, to go to Moscow.

The Failure of A Mission 37

‘We in the High Commission stood down for another
week of anguish and agony. Nothing was more’agonizing
than the radio speech of our President on December 16. It
was completely divorced from the situation in either wing of
the country. In our state of confinement we had no way of

. knowing that it had been recorded before the cease-fire was

agreed to.

EVACUATION

We were finally evacuated on December 20. For reasons
best known to them, the Ministry of Information had deci-
ded to play down our return home. There was no one of any
note to meet us or to ask us how we had spent the last 17
days of our year long incarceration in New Delhi.

Yahya Khan soon disappeared from public view. There
was, therefore, no way to enquire of him of the assurances he
had spoken of with such conviction on September 5. I did,
however, chance upon my old batchmate, General Gul
Hassan, in Larkana early in February 1972. I asked him if
the reports he had described, with such contempt, as “‘airy
fairy’’ on September 5 were in the event found to be devoid
of all substance, or whether the war had been fought as we
had predicted in detail. He had the honesty to admit that
though our reports had not been given any consideration
whatsoever at the time they had not been incorrect and that the
war had, indeed, been fought as we said it would be. As a
French diplomat put it succinctly quite some time ago to his
political masters “It is my duty to tell you the truth, and it
is your privilege to heed it or not”.
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PAKISTAN AND
THE SUEZ CRISIS

1

A FACTUAL account of the Suez crisis, which shook
Pakistan more than any other event after Partition, may help
shed some light on the controversy concerning the role of
President Iskander Mirza and the rest of our leadership in
1956.

The Suez canal which connects the Mediterranean Sea
and the Indian Ocean, constructed by Frenchman Ferdinand
de Lesseps was opened in 1869. The 99 year concession
granted to de Lesseps was to last until 1968. Initially, France
owned 200,000 and Egypt 175,000 shares of the operating
company, called the Universal Suez Canal Company. In
1875, Britain purchased the Egyptian shares. A convention
signed in 1888 at Constantinople declared that the canal
would ““always be free and open, in time of war as in time of
peace, to every vessel of commerce or of war, without dis-
tinction of flag”. Under another provision of this convent-
ion Egypt, or Turkey as the Suzeain power, would ensure the
execution of the terms of the said convention. After World
War I, Britain became the “Guarentor’ of the canal in place
of Turkey.

Under pressure from President Nasser, who had over-
thrown King Farouq in 1952, Britain agreed in 1954 to eva-
cuate its military base in Suez. Ambassador Tayyab Hussain,
who was at the time in charge of our Embassy in Cairo, play-
ed a prominent part in the conclusion of this agreement.

16
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ASWAN DAM

In 1955, President Nasser decided to build a High Dam
at Aswan on the Nile in the hope that the project would be
financed by the U.S., U.K, and other Western powers. On
July 19, 1956 the United States dashed his hopes by announ-
cing that it would have no part in this programme. Stung by
this refusal, Nasser, in a dramatic move nationalised the Uni-
versal Suez Canal Company on dJuly 26. The Canal revenues,
he said, would help Egypt build the Dam by itself. This extra

bravado provided Sir Anthony Eden, the British Prime Minis-

ter, the excuse to declare in the House of Commons on
August 2 that an international waterway could not be left n
the unfettered control of a single power bent upon exploit-
ing it in pursuit of national policy. The battle to reassert
Anglo-French control over the Suez Canal was on.

Even before a joint statement by the Foreign Ministers of
theU.K.,U.S.A.and France calling for a 24 nation conference
of the canal users on August 16 could be issued, Anthony
Eden called up the reservists and despatched troops and three
aircraft carriers to the Mediterranean. Notice was thereby
served not only on Nasser of the dire consequences that awai-
ted him, but also on John Foster Dulles who was attending
the Three Power conference in London and was opposed to
the use of force, that Britain and France would ‘go it alone’ if
necessary. As he was to aver in his memories later, Anthony
Eden had set his heart on toppling Nasser in whom he saw a
nascent Fascist dictator. In the event it was Sir Anthony
Eden who was to find himself toppled for want of popular
support at home for his reactionary policies.

Anxious to help bring about a peaceful solution of the
crisis which, in our opinion, might cost Egypt its newly won
independence, Pakistan accepted the invitation to the Lon-
don Conference with alacrity. Our newly appointed Foreign
Minister, Hamidul Haq Chaudhry, who, on his own admiss-
ion, would have preferred to head the Ministry of Commerce
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or Industry, would lead our delegation, which besides him
would consist of our High Commissioner in London, M. Ik-
ramullah, and Joint Secretary S.K. Dehlavi. Ambassador
Tayyab Hussain, whom the Egyptian held in high esteem,
joined the delegation just before it left.

Since President Nasser’s action in nationalizing the canal
had evoked popular support throughout Pakistan, Prime
Minister ‘Chaudhry Mohammad Ali and his Cabinet approved
the Foreign Office recommendations that our delegation
should uphold Egypt’s claim both to the ownership and con-
trol of the canal. The most we could agree to would be su-
pervision of a specialised United Nations agency in which
users of the canal from West and East would be equally re-
presented. The need for such a proviso was felt because some
56 per cent of our exports and 49 per cent of our imports
passed through the canal at the time. It was also decided that
in response to an Egyptian invitation our Foreign Minister
should call on President Nasser on his way to London and,
while assuring him of our support, despite his hostility to
Pakistan because of our membership of the Baghdad Pact,
would acquaint him with our concern for freedom of navigat-
ion through the canal and the need for restraint in the matter

of dues, either of which issue could imperil Egypt’s objectives
and freedom.

Having tendered this advice, Foreign Minister Hamidul
Haq Chaudhry arrived in London on August 15 to find him-
self fawned upon by the three power sponsors of the confer-
ence. Secretary of State Dulles called on him at his hotel and
canvassed his support for the American proposal for an Inter-
national Control Board for managing the canal. Before plac-
ing this proposal at the conference table on August 18, Dulles
sent its draft to our Foreign Minister with a personal letter.
Egypt, he said, lacked the know-how to run the canal by it-
self. Our Foreign Minister plumped for the proposal straight-
away. He asked the Prime Minister to let him omit that part
of his written brief which required him to support Egyptian
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Control of the Canal.

Now, for all his ineptitude in handling party and politi-
cal affairs at home, Chaudhry Mohammad Ali was a very
clear-headed man. What is'more, he and Ikramullah were two
of the best draftsmen I had the privilege of serving under.
Both had that remarkable capacity, the distinctive hall-mark
of all great civil servants, of going straight to the heart of the
matter. Chaudhry Mohammad Al instructed Ha.rﬂidul Haq
" Chaudhry to ask Dulles how any resolution about internat-
ional control could be enforced in the face of Egyptian re-
‘solve never to accept such control. He was sure that, no
matter what decision the conference came to management of
the canal would ultimately have to be left to Egypt. Hence
Pakistan’s inability to go along with any proposal for “inter-
national control’’.

Notwithstanding these clear-cut instructions, Hamidul
Hag Chaudhry leaned heavily in favour of Dulles’ proposal.
He asked that he should be allowed to propose the establish-
ment of a committee to negotiate with Egypt how best to set
up an organization, in which Egypt would be fully represent-
ed, to manage the canal and thereby safeguard the interest of
the users. Any other course of action, he said, would isolate
him, and, worse, place him in the wrong company. With the
apprehension of an Anglo-French attack on Egypt preying on
his mind, Chaudhry Mohammad Al reluctantly agreed to the
setting up of a negotiating committee subject to the proviso
that it would do no more than discuss with Nasser what
operational arrangements could be made to safeguard the
interests of all concerned. He expressly instructed Hamidul
Haq Chaudhry once again to ask Dulles, if he had not already
done so, how international control could be enforced in face
of Nasser’s opposition.

DULLES’ PROPOSAL

On August 21 Pakistan, together with Iran, Turkey and
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Ethopia, moved an amendment to Dulles’ proposal which, at
best, was of cosmetic nature. A separate joint proposal by
the three powers asked for the setting up of a committee to
negotiate with Nasser on the basis of Dulles’ proposal and not
Chaudhry Mohammad Ali’s. The amended proposal, as
moved by Hamidul Haq Chaudhry, was immediately dubbed
the “Five Power Proposal”. To have a major Muslim State
east of Suez uphold their proposal, when Indonesia and Sri
Lanka had refused to do so, must have pleased the Americans
no end.

For his part, Nasser lost no time in condemning the pro-
posal as a hostile act. The deed was done, and there was no-
thing we could do in Karachi to retrieve the situation. Des-
pite repeated instructions to be cautious and not to subscribe
to the concept of so-called international control, Hamid-ul-
Haq Chaudhry had allowed himself, and his country with
him, to be made use of as an accessory to the creation of
Australian Premier. Menzie’s mission,whose failure, though a
foregone conclusion, was one more excuse London and Paris
were looking for.

Public opinion in Pakistan was in the meantime, for
once, running ahead of the Government. Shaikh Mujib-ur-
Rehman called for a ‘Suez Day’ to be observed throughout
East Pakistan. In Lahore, a public meeting attended by some
300,000 persons, the biggest since Partition, protested against
“Pakistan’s lukewarm support for the Egyptian cause”. Pro-
test meetings, ending in riots in places, were held all over
Karachi and other provincial towns in both wings of the
country. The Dawn correspondent in London proclaimed
that the Suez conference was the first occasion in which -
Pakistan had sided with the West in its conflict with a Muslim
country. The Muslim League Parliamentary Party whose
leadership Chaudhry Mohammad Ali had unwisely passed in-
to other hands, declared in a resolution that the imposition
of international control was a direct interference with the
sovereign rights of Egypt and pledged whole-hearted support
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to the latter. President Nasser in his outburst pointed to the
chair where Hamid-ul-Haq Chaudhry had sat for three hours
on his way to London to assure him of Pakistan’s whole-
hearted support before committing what he denounced as the
ultimate act of treachery. While Pakistan’s name was mud
throughout the Middle East, as we in the Foreign Office had
feared, Krishna Menon, by pleading for a consultative body
 instead of a Control Board, had placed Egypt, and the rest of
the Middle East with it, firmly in India’s debt.

This debacle was one of the reasons, albeit not the only

| 'f_réason, for the downfall of Chaudhry Mohammad Ali’s

Ministry. In September 1956, there was a change of Go-
vernment in Pakistan. Huseyn Shahid Suhrawardy took over
as Prime Minister and Malik Feroz Khan Noon as Foreign
Minister. Having played very little part in the first Suez
Conference owing to his absence in Afghanistan on an official
visit following the ugly incidents of early 1955 in which Pak-
istan’s flag had been desecrated and the worst imaginable in-
dignity inflicted on our Ambassador in Kabul, President
Iskander Mirza may have had the fast approaching second
Suez Conference in mind, in hand picking Malik Feroz Khan
Noon as another pliable, obliging Foreign Minister with an
old connection with Britain. If so, he could not have been
more mistaken.

W
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On September 3, 1956, the ‘Five-nation Committee’,
consisting of Australia, Ethiopia, the United States of Ameri-
ca, Sweden and Iran and led by Prime Minister Menzies, visit-
ed Cairo and put the Dulles proposals, as amended by Pakis-
tan, before President Nasser. The latter rejected them out of
hand. An International Control Board, he said, would im-
pinge on Egyptian sovereignty: the canal was an integral part
of Egyptian territory, and as such could not be excluded
from the politics of Egypt.

Having thus disposed of the two principles underlying
the Dulles proposals, namely that the canal be insulated from
the politics of any one nation and that an International Body
be responsible for its operation, maintenance and develop-
ment, Nasser invited all the 18 nations which had subscribed
to these proposals to enter into negotiations with Egypt to
devise ways and means to ensure the freedom of navigation
of the canal, its future development and an equitable system
of toll charges. This looked to us in Pakistan as a desperate
effort to foreclose the possibility of any precipitate action on
the part of Britain and France, both of whom were spoiling
for a fight. We said we would be ready to come if the majo-
rity of users would agree to such a conference.

On September 12, Sir Anthony Eden, under pressure
from Dulles, proposed a new Organization of users of the
canal. Pakistan, as one of the 18 sponsoring nations of the
Dulles proposal, was invited to become a founder member at



Pakistan and the Suez Crisis 23

a Second Suez Conference to be held in London on Septem-
ber 19. Having burnt our fingers once, our first reaction was
to stay away from this conference. We saw the proposed
association as a stratagem to provoke incidents in the canal
which would ‘provide London and Paris with an excuse to
attack Egypt.

SECOND SUEZ CONFERENCE

However, on being assured that the Association was not
,a pretext for the use of force, that our attendance at the con-
' ference would not in any way bind us to support the propo-
sal and, moreover that should Egypt refuse to cooperate with
the association, the three sponsoring powers would take the
matter to the Security Council, we agreed to participate.
Prime Minister Suhrawardy, who was at the time in Dacca,
instructed Malik Firoz Khan Noon to urge the conference to
seek a peaceful settlement of the dispute through negotiat-
ions with Egypt, and in doing so openly declare Pakistan’s
inability to associate with the users association. Such a
stance, our Foreign Minister thought, would not only demon-
strate our genuine desire for a peaceful settlement but would
also silence Egypt and India’s strident criticism of Pakistan.

Now, the three persons in the Foreign Office charged
with handling the Suez crisis from its begining were Foreign
Secretary M.S.A. Baig, Joint Secretary S.M. Hassan and my -
self in my capacity as Deputy Secretary incharge of Middle
Eastern Affairs. Due to our somewhat negative experience
during the First Suez Conference, Baig decided that both he
and I would accompany the Foreign Minister to London.
There would be no departure from our written brief this
time, we resolved. We were both clear in our own minds
where the justice of the case lay and what our role at the Se-
cond Suez Conference should be irrespective of the pressures
awaiting us in London.

w Malik Firoz Khan issued a statement to the press on
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September 16 before our departure for London. It stated
very clearly that our participation in the conference did not
bind us to be party to the proposed users’ association, and
that Pakistan would not be a party to the use of force or to
any solution imposed on Egypt against its will. Notwith-
standing this statement, thers was an uproar in the national
press against our participation in the conference.

DOUBTS REMOVED

After a brief halt in The Hague, where we took counsel
with Chadhry Zafarullah Khan and Begum Raana Liaquat Ali
Khan, both of whom concurred with the stance we were to
take at the conference, we arrived in London on September
17. Before leaving The Hague, Malik Firoz Khan Noon issued
another statement to the press which removed whatever little
doubt there might have been about our intent as a result of
the statement issued in Karachi the previous day.

Immediately after our arrival in London, our Foreign
Minister and Foreign Secretary called on Sir Anthony Eden,
who told them in the utmost confidence that Britain and
France had decided to attack Egypt with or without Ameri-
can help. He also told them not to convey this information
to Pakistan by telegram or any other means whatsoever.

It was clear to us that the conference was no more than
a last minute effort by Secretary of State Dulles to abort this
attack as reimposition of British authority over Egypt was
not acceptable to Washington. However, Washington was no
friend of President Nasser, either. His acceptance of military
aid . from the Eastern block militated against Western interests
and, therefore, the U.S. would not mind if he were to be
brought down a notch or two. Malik Firoz Khan Noon forth-
with took two decisions without the benefit of consultations
with his Prime Minister: first to stick to his brief in the face
of American pressure, and secondly, to inform Nasser of the
impending peril. To this end, he sent a personal message to



e

Pakistan and the Suez Crisis 25

King Saud, through our Ambassador in Jeddah, asking him to
warn Nasser of what awaited him.

When the conference opened at Lancaster House on
September 19, the Foreign Minister strongly attacked the
proposal for the Canal Users’ Association (SCUA) and, in un-
equivocal terms, declared Pakistan’s determination to dis-
associate itself from any move to impose a settlement on
Egypt. Referring to article 9 of the 1888 convention, he de-

" molished the British claim, as successor to the Turkish Su-

zerainity over the canal, to come and defend it in an emer-

_gency. This speech, delivered with some forceé even before

the proposal for the Users Association had been tabled,
caused considerable embarrassment to both Salwyn Lloyd,
President of the conference, and Dulles. That Malik Firoz
Khan Noon had attacked a proposal that had yet to be tabled
was a deliberate act. It not only took the wind out of Wes-
tern sails, it also hit Cairo and the rest of the Arab World as a
bombshell. Anwar Saadat, in an article in a Cairo newspaper,
hailed the speech as “the return of the Prodigal’ Predictably,
Secretary of State Dulles was very unhappy with what Malik
Firoz Khan Noon had done, and forthwith addressed a letter
to him threatening to cut off economic aid to Pakistan unless
the Pakistan delegation were to fall in line.

NOON’S STAND

Notwithstanding this threat, Malik Firoz Khan Noon re-
iterated his earlier stand at the fihal plenary session. As we
were leaving Lancaster House, both Baig and I flanking our
Foreign minister on either side, Mr. Dulles approached us and
inno uncertain terms remonstrated with our Foreign Minister
about what he described as Pakistan’s deviation from its ear-
lier stand at the First Suez Conference. With a disarming
smile, Malik Firoz Khan Noon turned round and said that it
was his delegation which should be blamed for what had
come to pass.
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There was also pressure from the British side. It was far
more subtle and meaningful than the American arm twisting.
We were told, through our High Commissioner, that by siding
with them we could ensure British and French support in our
disputes with India. Malik Firoz Khan Noon refused to fall
for this temptation, for he knew full well that the support
being offered would get us no where. On the contrary, for
Pakistan to be a party to an attack on a fellow Muslim State
carried with it a price tag no Government in Pakistan could
afford to pick up and survive.

Meanwhile, on the eve of the conference Prime Minister
Suhrawardy had offered to visit Cairo. In his usual haughty
manner, Nasser had snubbed him by saying that the Prime
Minister of Pakistan would be welcome only when the con-
ditions were right. Malik Firoz Khan Noon, therefore, turned
down the Egyptian invitation to visit Cairo on our way back
to Karachi. At this distance of time, I am not sure if our
Foreign Minister should not have swallowed his pride and
gone to Cairo. Had he done so, he would have received a
hero’s welcome, and thereby foreclosed the possibility of yet
another attempt to drag us into this unsavoury drama of con-
frontation between the western powers and Nasser, who had
staked his all on defying them. Finally, he paid dearly for his
defiance. When I took leave of Nasser in June 1968, at the
end of my tenure as Ambasador in Cairo, to go to New Delhi,
he was like a broken reed. As often happens in the case of
over independent leaders of poor countries, his powerful
adversaries had got him in the end.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS

For us in Karachi, the Second Suez Conference was a
marked contrast to the first. As a seasoned politician, Suhra-
wardy knew what the public sentiment demanded. Under no
circumstances was he prepared to go against that. His n-
structions were, therefore, quite clear and final. When we
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informed him of the general trend of the conference after the
opening plenary session, he told us quite sharply that we
were not to depart from our written brief. It was at this
stage that the sponsoring powers sought President Iskander
Mirza’s intervention for the first time. Suhrawardy deflected
this intervention by instructing our Foreign Minister to say,
just before leaving London, that the conference’s proposal
would be placed before the Government of Pakistan for its

consideration.: Since it was no more than a stratagem, Dulles

saw through it straight away and proceeded to take certain

- _«corrective steps. He first wrote to Suhrawardy, from whom

he could get little or no change. He next turned to Iskander
Mirza again. The result of this second approach was to lead
to a memorable development which will be dealt with in the
concluding part of this essay.
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All the three sponsoring powers were bent upon secur-
ing Pakistan’s membership of the Canal Users’ Association, al-
beit from different motives. Whereas John Foster Dulles saw
an association bearing the consent of all the 18 powers assem-
bled in London as a powerful inhibiting force against re-
imposition of Anglo-French control of the canal, the British
and the French — who, in collusion with Israel, were secretly
finalising, in a villa outside Paris, their plans to launch an all-
out. attack on Egypt — wanted to have at least one major
Muslim power on their side. To that end, Pakistan was an
ideal choice. It was one of the major users of the canal east
of Suez.

India, Indonesia and Sri Lanka had already refused to go
along with the Western powers against a fellow Asian State.
Many of the Arab States were anti-Nasser, but did not have
the gumption to oppose him openly. Turkey and Iran were
already in the bag, but neither at that time counted for much
in the Muslim World. Pakistan’s hand, must, therefore, be set
to what the Americans on the one hand, and the British and
French on the other, wanted to achieve in their ownrespective
ways.

We in the Foreign Office knew all this and were deter-
mined to keep Pakistan out of what was about to happen and
its ramifications, one of which turned out to be the over-
throw of the Iragi regime two year hence. However our one
great weakness was even then, that more often than not poli-
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cies were fashioned and decisions made for us before we
could gainsay them. Two of President Iskander Mirza’s con-
stant companions in the evenings were the British High
Commissioner, Sir Alexander Symon,and U.S. Ambassador
Horace Hildereth. Iskander Mirza’s son was married to the
latter’s daughter, an early bond of our “auld alliance’’ with
America.

A few days after our delegation’s return from London,
Malik Firoz Khan Noon, Baig, Hassan and I were summoned
to Government House for an audience. We knew we were on

the mat for what we had done in London and that Pakistan’s,

arm was to be twisted a second time. President Iskander
Mirza rebuked us all roundly. He said we had ratted out on
our friends and allies in London and that the only way we
could expiate our sins would be to call Ambassador Hildereth
and Sir Morris James — Acting British High Commissioner
and later to be my colleague in New Delhi between 1968 and
1971, a fine man — and forthwith convey to them our
agreement to the full-fledged members of the Canal Users
Association. Since he would not listen to anything we said
by way of explanation, there was nothing for us to do but to
promise to carry out our President’s orders. Public sentiment
meant nothing to him, less our fears of what would happen
once Egypt came under attack. However, we could not help
noticing Prime Minister Suhrawardy’s absence from this
meeting. This gave us courage to put our heads together and
think up something to delay matters. To stay our Foreign
Minister’s hand was easy: he needed no conversion. Whatever
he had done in London he had done out of conviction and
for the good of the country.

The meeting ordered by our President could not be
postponed indefinitely. The pressure from Ambassador Hil-
dereth and Sir Morris James was relentless. They were called
to the Foreign Office on the fateful day of October 28, 1956.
Besides Malik Firoz Khan Noon, Baig, Hassan and I were pre-
sent at the meeting. Ambassador Hildereth asked for Pakis-
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tan’s immediate adhesion to the association which had alrea-
dy started functioning in London. Such an act on the part of
a major Muslim State east of Suez, he said, would have a
salutary effect in Cairo. Sir Morris James, in supporting
Ambassador Hildereth, asked -for our signatures there and
then. Malik Firoz Khan, at the intervention of one of us, said
that he was ready to accede to their request if they could
only assure him that Egypt would not be attacked.

Thereupon Hildereth asked for the Foreign Minister’s
permission to tell a story which he said though it was not so
prim and proper, lent itself admirably to our position on the
Suez issue. He then proceeded to liken our attitude to that
of an extremely vulgar and offensive metaphor which does
not bear repetition in print. We were stunned and could not
believe our ears. I feel proud to record that Malk Firoz
Khan Noon’s reaction was exactly that what could have been
expected of a Minister of self-respecting, sovereign state. He
went red in the face, rose, placed his hands firmly on the
desk and said that he would wait for the assurance he had
asked for. The meeting was over. Egypt was attacked that
very night.

It was in consequence of this attack that Prime Minister
Suhrawardy told Sir Morris James of his intention to leave
the Common-wealth. The people of Pakistan could not for-
give or forget this wanton aggression against a fellow Muslim
state, he said. In the best traditions of British diplomacy,
Morris James immediately drafted a telegram to London
faithfully setting forth what had come to pass between him
and our Prime Minister and sent it to Suhrawardy for his
perusal before sending it off to London. It was this very
telegram which set in motion the events in Teheran recoun-
ted by President Iskander Mirza in his interview. Of course,
Suhrawardy knew full well that with Iskander Mirza as our
head of State there was no question of our leaving the
Commonwealth. It was an astute move all the same to
command attention both at home and abroad. The time was
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not far, he knew, when he would have to articulate his
famous pronouncements of zero plus zero being equal to
zero. However, his first concern at that time was to contain
the situation at home.

As for what Ambassador Hildereth actually said, both
Ambassador Hassan and I have recorded it for history. It was
a sad day for Pakistan. There are some who believe to this
day that Malik Firoz Khan Noon, by dismissing the Western
envoys that day, signed the warrant of his own dismissal and
that of his government two years hence. If this view were to

% be held as correct, one would wonder whether those who

came after him had learnt any lesson from what befell him.



4

THE FAILURE OF A
MISSION

Hardly anything can be added to General Fazal Muqu-
eem Khan and Col. Siddique Salik’s accounts of the 1971
Pakistan-India war and of the events leading upto it. How-
ever, one dimension of this painful story still remains to be
covered — that is, how we in the Pakistan High Commission
in New Delhi saw the inexorable march to disaster from the
vantage point of our post and why we failed utterly to impart
any sense of impending doom to our own Government.

In that sense my mission was a double failure: I failed to
arrest the march of events both in India and in Pakistan, but
not, however, for any lack of trying. There are a number of
events still fresh in my mind which I would like to recount.
For the present, I propose only to talk of one of them, the
failure of my mission to Islamabad on September 5, 1971.

ENVOYS CONFERENCE

Towards the end of August, the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs organized two conferences of our envoys abroad, one
in Teheran and the other in Geneva. Because of restrictions
on my movement I could attend only the latter. It was an
impressive affair. Our envoys from all over-Europe and the
Northern hemisphere came to give detailed accounts of the
situation as they saw it from their respective posts, and of
their own efforts to acquaint the countries of their jurisdic-
tions with our point of view. Foreign Secretary Sultan Khan
and Information Secretary Roedad Khan sat at the head of

32
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the table directing the discussion, which inevitably came to
be centered on the all-important question of peace and war in
the wake of the recently concluded Treaty of Friendship and
Cooperation between the Soviet Union and India. The gene-
ral consensus appeared to be that, notwithstanding this trea-
ty, peace might still be saved. Our Ambassador in Moscow
did not disagree with such an assessment.

Summing up the discussion, Sultan Khan spoke of Is-
lamabad’s persistent efforts to defuse the situation in Kast
Pakistan and of the difficulties attendant upon such a course
. of action. He also spoke of the dichotomy between the
White House and the Department of State in that behalf.
While the former stood for the preservation of peace, the
latter, with considerations of its own, was not averse to adop-
ting a stance which did not always accord with our national
interest.

INDO—SOVIET TREATY

For my part, I made bold to say that the 9 August 1971
Indo-Soviet Treaty, coming as it did at the end of Indian pre-
parations for war, which had started with the 29 March joint
resolution of support and sympathy for the people of East
Pakistan by both Houses of the Indian Parliament, meant war
and nothing else. That this was, at best, a minority view be-
came immediately clear. There were not many takers for
a pessimistic view from amongst the participants. In des-
peration I asked Sultan Khan, my old friend and colleague
alongwith Ambassador Iftikhar Ali since 1947 in Delhi, to
take me to Islamabad so that I could make a personal submi-
ssion to the President of Pakistan. He very kindly agreed.
We arrived in Islamabad on the 2 or 3 of September. An au-
dience was granted to me on the mormning of September 5,
the day after the general amnesty for “miscreants” from East
Pakistan was announced under American suggestion. Sultan
accompanied me to this crucial-meeting.
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After I had explained at some length why I thought war
was inevitable, and why, in my estimation, the month of No-
vember would be a month of peril for us, President Yahya
Khan proceeded to dismiss my fears and forebodings as base-
less through and through. He said that he had received so
many assurances from President Nixon to the effect that
there would be no war that he could not even account for all
the communications to that effect from the White House. I
replied, with respect, that preservation of peace between
Pakistan and India depended, beside the Americans, on one
other party, namely the Russians. I seriously doubted that
the Russians were any longer as determined to preserve the
peace as the Americans were. This clear enough reference to
our unwise act of summary rejection earlier in the year of
President Podgomy’s proposal to reach a political settlement
with our brethren in East Pakistan seemed to have touched a
raw nerve. Yahya Khan turned to Sultan and said that it was
time to recall me from the front line for a well-deserved rest.
I submitted that I was not tired and did not wish to leave my
post at this important juncture.

GUL HASSAN

When the audience was over, Sultan remonstrated with
me for my persistent, pessimistic attitude on the grounds that
I was doing myself and my mission no good. I said I felt it
my duty to speak the truth. At my request, he had earlier
taken me to see General Gul Hassan, Chief of General Staff,
who happened to be my contemporary at the Indian Military
Academy, Dehra Dun, in 1941. The minute he saw me, Gul
Hassan, broke into a torrent of complaint about the “airy-
fairy”’ reports coming out of our Mission in New Delhi.

“What is this about Sam Manekshaw threatening to
wrap up the whole of Pakistan in 3 weeks?’, he asked me in
an injured tone. I told Gul Hassan he was free to believe
what he liked, but that would not prevent us in New Delhi



R e T B e e

ool SR SRR

=T

SIS

bl = = T

e B e a=——— T __ TR AP

The Failure of A Mission 35

from sounding the alarm bells we had been doing since March
29, when I had on the institution of Martial Law in East
Pakistan and New Delhi’s reaction to it reported that the plan
to separate East Pakistan from West Pakistan was now on.

Back in the Ministry, Director General for South
Asia, Aftab Ahmad Khan, tried to reassure me with: “High
Commissioner, rest assured. This time round it is not going
be like 1965°. He was not speaking with his tongue in his
cheek. He was only mouthing the air of ‘‘bravado”. Henry
Kissinger has spoken of it in his memoirs. The judgment he

. was to deliver to a friendly journalist on his return to San

Clemante was far more devastating. The air of unreality in
Islamabad had to be seen to be believed.

MUJIB’S GAME

On my return to New Delhi, I had a chance meeting
with Sardar Swaran Singh, and Gen. Manekshaw, another
Indian Military Academy product, at a diplomati¢ party.
What passed between us prompted me to make one more
attempt to bring some Se€nse of realism at home. I begged
that of the two games there was still time to play we should
choose to play the Mujib game rather than that of Indira
Gandhi. I went further and suggested that we seriously con-
sider a unilateral withdrawal of our armed forces from East
Pakistan to facilitate a political settlement. I pointed out the
anology of Egypt in 1967. Russia and the USA working 1n
concert had been unable to restrain Israel. Basing themselves
on Tel Aviv's assurance that it would give President Johnson
a week or two to defuse the situation the Russians persuaded
Nasser on June 3 to stay his hand. Israel struck within 48
hours. This despatch did cause some stir at home but that
was all. The die had already been cast, and there was no tur-
ning back from the precipice of false pride we stood at.

No sooner had I returned to New Delhi than telegraphic
orders were received from Islamabad transferring me from
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New Delhi to Ankara. I decided to ignore these orders. That
was not half as difficult as an earlier order asking me to do
something which, in my considered view, would have bes-
mirched Pakistan’s name and honour for a long time to come.
I said no and withstood all pressure from home.

I made one more journey to Islamabad to secure formal
approval of a contingency plan I had drawn up with my Swiss
colleague, Dr. Fritz Real. It was agreed between us, with the
subsequent approval of our respective governments, that both
the Chancery building and our official Residence would pass
into Swiss hands the minute hostilities between Pakistan and
India broke out. The Swiss Government would look after
our interests in India.

On the moming of December 11, Real came to see me
at the residence, where our two families and a large number
of High Commission staff were confined. He said that a tele-
gram, transmitting General Rao Farman Ali’s communication
of the previous day sent through U.N. Assistant Secretary
General, Paul Henry, had been received by the Secretary
General of the U.N. in New York offering a cease-fire on the
East Pakistan front provided that the Pakistan Armed Forces
were allowed to withdraw to West Pakistan with honour.
Notwithstanding that, the Government of India had planned
a big push into West Pakistan on the moming of December
13 with the sole objective of destroying the Pakistan Army.

We mannaged immediately to pass on news of this immi-
nent Indian push on West Pakistan to Islamabad by means of
an alternate chainel which had been prepared in advance for
such an eventuality.

When Dr. Fritz Real called the following morning, it was
not to evacuate us to Islamabad but to bring the welcome
news that the planned push by Manekshaw had been post-
poned thanks to Nixon’s intervention with Leonid Brezhnev.
Firyubin, the Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister, was in New
Delhi throughout the war. He halted Manekshaw in his
tracks.
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We in the High Commission stood down for another
week of anguish and agony. Nothing was more agonizing
than the radio speech of our President on December 16. It
was completely divorced from the situation in either wing of
the country. In our state of confinement we had no way of
knowing that it had been recorded before the cease-fire was

agreed to.

EVACUATION

We were finally evacuated on December 20. For reasons
best known to them, the Ministry of Information had deci-
ded to play down our return home. There was no one of any
note to meet us or to ask us how we had spent the last 17
days of our year long incarceration in New Delhi.

Yahya Khan soon disappeared from public view. There
was, therefore, no way to enquire of him of the assurances he
had spoken of with such conviction on September 5. I did,
however, chance upon my old batchmate, General Gul
Hassan, in Larkana early in February 1972. I asked him if
the reports he had described, with such contempt, as “airy
fairy”’ on September 5 were in the event found to be devoid
of all substance, or whether the war had been fought as we
had predicted in detail. He had the honesty to admit that
though our reports had not been given any consideration
whatsoever at the time they had not been incorrect and that the
war had, indeed, been fought as we said it would be. As a
French diplomat put it succinctly quite some time ago 1o his
political masters ‘‘It is my duty to tell you the truth, and 1t
is your privilege to heed it or not”.



5

MIKHAIL KAPITSA
A PROFILE

The arrival in Beijing on September 8 of Mikhail Step-
hanovich Kapitsa, Deputy Foreign Minister of the Soviet
Union, has aroused world-wide attention. His ten days stay
in the Chinese capital is to further the ongoing Sino-Soviet
talks to normalise their relations after political conflict,
including armed skirmishes, of two decades and more. This
break between Mascow and Beijing after a generation of
ideological solidarity and co-operation changed the world
power picture and led to a basic change in East-West relat-
ions. With Pakistan opening the door, and albeit getting
dismembered for'its failure of perception, the United States
and China ushered in a new phase of their mutural relation-
ship, which was hailed in the West as deliverance from the
Soviet threat. Richard Nixon, the architect of this new shift
in U.S. policy, went so far as to proclaim last October that
China was moving away from doctrinaire communism, and
that even though it had not as yet embraced a free political

system, nothing had been left to draw the Soviet Union and
China together again.

At precisely the same time — that is, October last — the
first high level talks in three years between China and the So-
viet Union were getting under way against a backdrop of su-
ggestions from Beijing that relations with Moscow were about
to undergo a thaw. Soviet Deputy Foreign Minister Leonid
Illichev, whom I had seen from Moscow undertake many a
visit to Beijing in vain, resumed with his opposite number,
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Qian Qichen, the first formal high level contacts between the
two countries since China had broken off discussions after
Soviet military intervention in Afghanistan in 1979. The
backdrop to their meeting, in turn, were unmistakable hints
from Beijing, met by widely publicised calls for normalizat-
ion of relations by Leonid I. Brezhnev. No wonder there
were alarms about the U.S. loosing its “China card” in its
rivalry with the Soviet Union. How to avoid the possibility
of a new hostile alliance between Moscow and Beijing is the
current night-mare of Western policy planners. |

There are others who think, and rightly so, that the
acceptance of a common need for peace by all three powers
rather than a quasi alliance of two against the third would
bode well for the cause of world peace. It would reduce the
danger of nuclear war and even lead towards the much desir-
ed resolution of ‘“third countries’” problems between the
Soviet Union and China, which Moscow initially refused to
discuss, such as Vietnamese occupation of Kampuchea, So-
viet occupation of Afghanistan, and the presence of Soviet
troops in Mangolia. Bilaterally, the most important issue is,
of course, the massing of Soviet troops and missiles on
China’s border. Normalization of relations between China
and the Soviet Union is, therefore, of great interest to us in
Pakistan in as much as it would facilitate a peaceful settle-
ment of the Afghanistan problem into which we have got
ourselves needlessly mired.

It is against this background that Mikhail Kapitsa’s visit
to Beijing should be seen by us. He s, of course, no stranger
to Pakistan. He lived among us as the Soviet Ambassador
from 1958 to 1962, when he made a host of friends through-
out Pakistan. Born on November 5, 1921 in the Ukraine,
Kapitsa happens to be a career diplomat of some 40 years
standing. He served in the USSR Embassy in Beijing from
1943 to 1946 and again from 1950 to 1952. He served in the
South Asian Section of the Soviet Foreign Office from 1965
to 1970, thereafter becoming its head for a whole decade.
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It was in this capacity that I first met Kapitsa on my
arrival in Moscow in June 1975. It did not take me long to
discover that he cherished affectionate and fond memories of
his sojourn in Pakistan and those he had made friends with.
I also found him one of the most outspoken and outgoing
Soviet diplomats I had met anywhere in the world. He was
most friendly and helpful throughout my stay in Moscow. I
could always call on him at the shortest possible notice and
draw him out on any aspect of the Sino-Soviet relations. It
was he who outlined to me one morning in the Kremlin the
exact likely course of the succession struggle that would fo-
llow Chairman Mao Zedong’s death.

ASSESSMENTS

He began with his assessment of the strength of various
factions in the Central Committee. He then predicted that
the new Chinese leader to succeed Chairman Mao would be
found from among three personages, namely, Chiang Ching
the wife of Chairman Mao, Hua Guo Feng and Chen Hsi-Lien,
the Commander of the Beijing military district. Kapitsa con-
tinued that since China had a history of Empress Dowagers,
Chiang Ching as head of the Radical faction could not be
ruled out. However, he assessed Hua Guo Feng, as the most
likely successor, particularly as after the Lin Piao affair a
military General might not be acceptable to the Party. It
may be recalled that at this time Western sinologists were in
the main completely unaware of the potential importance of
Hua Guo Feng as was evident from the omission of his name
from the principal biographic dictionaries on China. Kapit-
sa’s scenario of the Chinese succession, balanced between the
Radical and Pragmatists at that point of time, was no less of
news in Islamabad than it was to me in Moscow.

| Kapitsa’s knowledge of China and Chinese affairs is
encyclopaedic. His Chinese is as good as his English. What
with his beautifully tailored suits, silk shirts and sulka ties,
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Kapitsa was something of a wonder in the diplomatic corps in
Moscow. Much sought after, he never-declined an invitation
to the Pakistan House. s

A doctor of Historical Sciences, Professor of Moscow
University and author of different books on international
affairs and the Far East, many of which are standard text
books for courses at Soviet Universities, Kapitsa was awarded
the order of the U.S.S.R. International Affairs Laureate in
'1982. He became the Deputy Foreign Minister of the USSR
the same year.

FT

Kapitsa is married to Lyudmila Vitoldovrna, a specialist
in Western European literature and a journalist. They have a
daughter and two sons.



:
BREZHNEV AND THE USSR

The Great October Revolution anniversary is celebrated
in Moscow every year with great fanfare. In the morning,
there is the well-known military march past in Red Square
with the entire Politbureau standing atop the Lenin Mauso-
leum. In the afternoon, there is a grand reception in the
Kremlin Palace of Congresses, where the Secretary General of
the Communist Party receives felicitations from high officials
of his Party and Government, from Heads of Foreign Miss-
ions in Moscow, and from visiting delegations and dignitaries.
November 7, 1978, was the sixtyfirst anniversary of the
Great October Revolution. After all the Ambassadors had
been presented to the Secretary General and President of the
Supreme Soviet Presidium and his Politbureau colleagues,
Mr. Brezhnev lifted his glass and proposed a toast. “To the
workers!” he said in a loud and ringing voice. Toasting
workers is an old Leninist tradition. The point to ponder in
this instance, however, is that the man proposing the toast
happened to be not only one of the two most powerful
Heads of State in the world, but also the son of a metal
worker.

President Leonid Ilyich Brezhnev was born on Decem-
ber 19, 1906 in the Ukrainian city of Kamenskoya, now
Dnepropetrovsk, the son of a metal worker. He went to a
local school where, in a class of 40, he happened to be the
only working class boy. After a brief stint as a specialist in
land reclamation, he became a metallurgical engineer in a
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local steel mill. He joined the Komsomol, the youth organi-
sation of the Communist Party, in 1931. When Khruschev
became head of the Ukrainian Party in 1938, Brezhnev was
appointed a senior Secretary of the Dnepropetrovsk Oblast,
or regional Party organisation. Thus began an association
that was to take him all the way to the Politbureau.

When the German forces over-ran the Dnieper region in
1941, Brezhnev joined the Red Army as deputy chief of the
political administration of the Southern Army Group with
the rank of Lt. Colonel. By the time the war finished, he had

. “risen to the rank of Major General. By all accounts, his war

record was distinguished and he was honoured with a place in
the victory parade in the Red Square. The war made a great
impact on him. He never forgot the horrors of war.

Brezhnev was appointed Party Secretary of Zaparozhe
in 1946 and of Dnepropetrovsk in 1947. In both places he
rebuilt steel mills ruined during the war. After serving as
head of the Party in Moldavia from 1952 to 1954, he was
given the charge of virgin lands project in Kazakhstan. Hav-
ing completed his task successfully, Brezhnev returned to the
Party Secretariat in Moscow in 1956.

In the Soviet tradition to rise in the Party heirarchy men
have to be builders first and foremost. That is why many of
the Soviet leaders happen to be engineers. Khruschev won
his spurs by building the Moscow underground, which com-
pares favourably with any underground railway system in the
West. Brezhnev brought the vast expanses of virgin lands
under the plough in the province of Kazakhstan. That brou-
ght him the recognition without which there could have been
no further advancement. His return to Moscow coincided
with the 20th Party Congress, in which Khurschev made his
famous denunciation of Stalin. To understand Brezhnev’s
rise to the highest post in the Party, it is necessary to know
something of the power structure in the Soviet Union.
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POWER STRUCTURE

The Politbureau is the Party’s highest body. Its mem-
bership comprises a dozen or so leading officials of both
Party and Government. All major issues of policy are referr-
ed to it for decision. The other two party institutions of
great importance are the Party Congress and the Central Co-
mmittee. The Party Congress meets every five years and its
membership of about 5000 is drawn from the Privincial Party
Organisations. The Central Committee is a smaller but far
more important body. Its membership at the beginning of
this year stood at 319. The Central Committee includes lead-
ing members of the central and regional party organisations,
the Government, the Armed Forces, the KGB, the Foreign
Service, and of the arts and sciences.

In principle, both the Party Congress and the Central
Committee come before the Politbureau. The Party Con-
gress represents the supreme authority of the Party while the
Central Committee, elected by the Congress, carries on the
Party’s business during the intervals between the Congresses.
The Politbureau is therefore no more than the standing co-
mmittee of the Central Committee to which 1t must answer
for whatever it does. In fact, however, the order of prece-
dence is reversed. It is the Party Congress and the Central
Committee which answer to the politbureau and carry out its
policies. The politbureau reaches its decisions by consensus,
each member exercising his right of equal vote.

Both Stalin and Khruschev resorted to the stratagem of
shifting thorny internal questions from the Politbureau to the
Central Committee and the Party Congress. During 1955 and
1957, Khruschev used the Central Committee to dislodge
three of his rivals in the Politbureau, namely Malenkov,
Molotv and Kagnovitch.

In a complete reversal of this practice, in October 1964,
the Central Committee was told to ratify the Politbureau’s
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decision to relieve Khurschev of his post as the First Secre-
tary of the Party. The vote against Khurschev was unani-
mous. |

Ever since, the October 1964 Plenum has served as a
model for every meeting of the Central Committee. It is
generally believed that the author of this reversal was none
other than Mikhail Suslov, the Party ideologue, who died in
February this year.

Unlike his predecessors, Brezhnev, when elected to the
highest post in the Party, confined himself to only two fields

. “ of activity, agriculture and foreign affairs. Under his gui-

dance, huge investments were made in land reclamation and
agricultural improvement between 1970 and 1980. By one
estimate, agriculture took precedence over all other civilian
expenditure. It is a pity that inspite of this huge infusion of
funds the agriculture sector has failed to measure up to the
country’s expectations. Owing to bad weather the Soviet
Union has had bad harvests for 4 years in a row since 1979.
However, it needs to be said that the huge quantities of grain
imported by the Soviet Union during these four years 1s
mainly for livestock, to increase meat production in the
country. Some idea of this problem can be had from the fact
that the city of Moscow alone needs as many as 8,000 heads
of cattle to meet its daily requirement of meat. This was told
to a few of us who one day called on Grishin, Secretary of
the Moscow Party, to learn what it took to run a metropolis
of more than eight million. There is enough grain produced
in the Soviet Union to meet the country’s needs for bread,
the price of which has stood at 20 kopecks per loaf for the
last 20 years or so.

President Brezhnev’s control of foreign affairs since
1969 was so complete as to leave no room for doubt about
his pre-eminence within the Soviet leadership. It was his
personal interest in reducing the risks of confrontation that
led him to open his account with the agreements with West
Germany and with the Soviet Union’s erst-while allies on
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Berlin in the 1970s. 1970 to 1973 were also the years when,
together with President Nixon, he helped to forge the con-
cept of detente or peaceful co-existance. While for President
Nixon it was a way out of the Vietnam war, to President
Brezhnev it meant ‘“‘the overcoming of the cold war and the
transition to normal stable relations among states’’.““Detente’’,
he said in an important speech while I was in Moscow,
“means”’ willingness to resolve disputes not by force, not by
threats and sabre rattling, but by peaceful means, at the con-
ference table. Detente means a certain trust and ability to
take into consideration each other’s legitimate interests’.
Legitimate interests meant both political and economic in-
terests. Agreements on SALT I and over European boun-
daries, together with those other agreements already referred
to, were more productive in reducing the risks of super power
confrontation than those of the previous 25 years.

The ideological differences between the USSR and the
USA, however, were hard to reconcile and conflicts of interest
became unavoidable as they embarked upon policies to pro-
mote their own systems and ways of life. Mutual recriminat-
ions during the Carter era were the inevitable result. Diffe-
rences over Human Rights and Third World policies, especial-
ly over Angola and Ethiopia overshadowed whatever limited
gains had been made in the field of arms control.. The whole
edifice of detente collapsed with the Soviet intervention in
Afghanistan in December 1979. The agreement on SALT II
was held up by the Senate, while the Carter administration
imposed a grain embargo and boycotted the 1980 Olympic
Games in Moscow.

What little was left of the spirit of detente was lost with
the advent of the Reagan administration.Insurgencies in Cen-
tral America, Martial Law in Poland, possible Soviet nuclear
superiority were all held in Washington as deliberate Soviet
aattempts to advance Moscow’s expansionist goals through
detente. For his part, in his last speeches, President Brezhnev
adopted a tone of aggressiveness towards the United States.
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He had given up all hope of any improvement in his re-
lations with the U.S. under President Reagan. He managed,
however, to save something of the frame-work of detente in
his relations with the West Europeans who have consistently
resisted American presure to reduce their commercial and
economic contacts with the Soviet Union. As averred by
former Chinese Foreign Minister Huang Hua, President
Brezhnev worked for normalization of Moscow’s relations
~ with Peking before his death.

The Soviet Union was already a great military power by
the time Brezhnev came to power in 1964. By 1972, when
. "SALT I was signed, the USSR had achieved nuclear parity
with the United States. Fora regime which had been plagued,
for some justifiable reasons, with an ever present sense of in-
security since it came to power in 1917, this was the most
important achievement of the Brezhnev era.

Notwithstanding the creation of the most powerful war
machine in the world, President Brezhnev would have liked
to be remembered for his efforts in the cause of peace. The
Soviet people will recall, with reason, the Brezhnev era as the
most peaceful years since the Bolshevik Revolution. They
know that decisions will soon have to be taken to make the
economy work better and agriculture more productive, which
may mean a tightening of belts. It is in the field of foreign
policy, however,that the new Soviet leadership will have to
assess its priorities. In that context, the Afghanistan problem
will be a central issue.

In my three and a half years in Moscow I had the privi-
lege of meeting President Brezhnev on many occasions. 1 al-
ways found him lucid, affable, ready to listen and attentive.
His assumption of the office of President of the Supreme
Soviet Presidium in 1977 coincided with certain important
developments in our own country. During a strictly formal
ceremony in the Kremlin early in July 1977 all Heads of
Missions were told to make their offers of felicitations as
brief as possible. Considering that there were as many as
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120 Heads of Missions lined up to go upto him one by one
shake his hand, say their piece before moving on, President
Brezhnev could not have devoted more than a minute or two
to each one of us. However, when I made bold to engage him
in a somewhat longish conversation exceeding the time allo-
cated to me, he listened to me patiently with full attention
and returned a reply I could not fault on any account. -

On another occasion during the Great October Revo-
lution celebrations in the Kremlin Hall of Congress on No-
vember 7, 1978 when our daughter Rehana who had learnt
Russian on coming down from Oxford, was presented to
President Brezhnev she congratulated him in Russian. He was
most pleased, joked with her in a grand-fatherly manner and
asked that she be presented to Madame Brezhnev as well. At
that moment I could not help recalling how his predecessor,
Khruschev,on a similar state occasion on the May day of
1960, had threatened my distinguished predecessor, Mr. Akh-
tar Hussain, with rockets trained on Peshawar during the
aftermath of the U-2 incident. The difference in personal
styles would ba a good way for us in Pakistan to compare and
remember these two Russian leaders.
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CHANGE OF GOVERNMENT
IN BONN.

With the swearing in of Chancellor Helmut Kohl’s 17-
member Cabinet on October 4, the change of Government in
Bonn is now complete. The 13 years old Coalition of the
Socialist Democratic Party and the Free Democratic Party
came to an end on September 17, when the Free Democrats
withdrew from Chancellor Helmut Schmidt’s Coalition.
Their switch to the Conservative Opposition Party, the Chris-
tian Democratic Party, two years before the general election
inexorably led to Chancellor Schmidt’s downfall and Helmut
Kohl’s election in his place. Notwithstanding Schmidt’s plea
for new elections, the Conservative ‘No confidence vote in
the Bundestag on October 1, which was the constitutional
instrument of change, constituted an unprecedented step in
the history of the Federal Republic. At the instance of the
Free Democrats, who hope to improve their sagging position,
Fresh elections will now be held in March 1983. Considering
our close, friendly relations with Bonn, we in Pakistan would
do well to understand the mainsprings of what has come to
pass and what it may portend for the future.

The first post-war Administration of Chancellor Konrad
Adenauers’ Christian Democratic Party, a successor to the
pre-war Centrum Party, lasted from 1949 to 1963. Its main
task was to reconstruct a new Germany at home and recon-
ciliation with France abroad. It succeeded remarkably well
in achieving both these objectives. By the time Ludwig Ear-
hardt succeeded to the office of Chancellor in 1963, the
Social Democratic Party, an old and established party which
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had not wielded power since the Weimar Republic in the
30’s, came to share the public vote with the Christian Demo-
cratic Party in equal measure. This drove Chancellor Ear-
hardt to seek an alliance with the smaller, liberal party of the
Free Democrats. However, the alliance collapsed when in
1966, as now, the Chancellor asked for tax increases and defi-
cit spending while the Free Democrats demanded lowering of
taxes for industry and cutbacks in social programmes. For 3
years, the Free Democrats stayed out of the Government,
leaving the two bigger parties to form a Grand Coalition,
under Chancellor Kiisinger, from 1966 to 1969.

Because of the strong ideological differences between
the partners, this Coalition lasted only as long as the Free
Democrats, who commanded 8% of the national vote at the
time, chose to sit it out. However, in 1969, they finally over-
came their disinclination to join hands with the Socialists and
what they traditionally stood for in German politics. With
their return, the Christian Democrats went into Opposition.
Despite repeated efforts under Brazel, Khol and Francis Josef
Strauss, the Christian Democrats failed to dislodge the Social
Democratic Party and Free Democrats Party Coalition first
under Chancellor Willy Brandt and then under Chancellor
Helmut Schmidt. The partnership finally came to an end
last month over budgetary policies and the rising tide of the
“Greens”’, a loose and somewhat to the left coalition of
ecologists and anti-nuclear protesters. While Chancellor
Schmidt called for higher taxes, the Free Democrats led by

their Economic Minister, Otto Lambsdorff, demanded re-

duction in taxes and social welfare programmes, particularly
unemployment benefits at a time when un-employment in
West Germany, at the record level of 1.7 million, is the high-
est since 1950. The fact is that despite this and a stagnant
economy, the German workers, the socialists main constitu-
ency, live well and are in no mood to suffer want.

The Coalition was already in danger due to opposition
from within the Social Democratic Party itself on the issue of
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development of U.S. missiles in the 'mid 80s. Schmidt had
threatened to resign if his party did not support this deploy-
ment. This would have led to the Coalition breaking up. For
America a break up due to budgetary differences was far pre-
ferable than over the missile deployment issue. The actual
crisis was triggered by the June elections in Hamburg when
the “Greens”’ replaced the Free Democrats as the third rank-
ing party in the State. The tempo increased as the elections
in Hesse, a Social Democrats’ stronghold, neared. At a
political rally in Wiesbaden, on August 30, Chancellor Sch-
midt and other speakers were pelted with rotten eggs. The

“ Free Democrats failed to gain the required 5% of the vote

while the “Greens’ won as many as 9 seats. No wonder a
perceptive observer in Bonn found the atmosphere early in
September as funeral.

West Germany rose to the position of primus inter-
pares, the first among equals, in Western Europe with the
appointment in 1969 of Willy Brandt as Chancellor and
Walter Scheel as Foreign Minister. Together, they fashioned
and put into effect “Ost-politik’ which opened the way for
improved relations with the Soviet Union and other East
European states and led to the 1971 Berlin Agreement. The
high water-mark of this period, in my estimation, was Willy
Brandt’s act of great courage when, on a visit to Poland, he
knelt in all humility at the memorial in WARSAW dedicated
to the victims of German slaughter during the war. An
equally courageous act of the Brandt-Scheel team was to es-
tablish relations with East Germany.

Although Pakistan had drawn a good deal of oppro-
brium throughout West Germany with its wrong headed
policies in East Pakistan in 1971, I found both Willy Brandt
and Walter Scheel sympathetic and ready to help. My first
meeting with Willy Brandt was at his annual dinner for
Heads of Missions in Bonn in the middle of 1972. 1took the
opportunity to seek his intervention on behalf of our pri-
soners of war in India. He listened to me patiently and pro-
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mised to do whatever he could. The next day I was called to
the Foreign Office and informed of the action the Chancellor
had taken at my request. The Foreign Minister was no less
kind.

By the time I was transferred to Moscow in June 1975,
Walter Scheel had taken over as the President of West Ger-
many. When I went to take leave of him, he told me, among
other things, that under a German custom, I was allowed two
wishes before I left. I said that since the dust had now settl-
ed over the unhappy events of 1971, would he consider a
high level exchange of visits between Pakistan and West Ger-
many. Secondly, would he cause a chair to be created at
Heidelburg or Munich for the study of Igbal’s poetry. He
granted the first request there and then. As for the second,
he promised to do what he could. An Igbal chair was duely
created at the University of Heidelburg a year or two later.

We are lucky that we have good friends among the
Christian Democrats. Francis Josef Strauss, that outstanding
politician and Bavarian Minister-President, whose Christian
Social Union Party has as many as 4 members in the new
Cabinet, is a good friend of Pakistan. It was during his term
of office as the Defence Minister that we were able to reach
friendly arrangements with Rheinmetal and other West Ger-
man Industrial houses in the matter of co-operation with our
ordnance factories to service our defence needs. Strauss paid
us a visit last year and we can hopefully look forward to his
continued friendship. Another good friend of ours among
the ruling Christian Democrats happens to be the former
Foreign Minister, Herr Schroder.

It is not only unemployment, a stagnant economy and
the decline in the Free Democratic Party fortunes that ero-
ded the Socialist-Liberals Alliance. The deterioration in
American-Soviet relations since the Soviet armed intervention
in Afghanistan has also taken its toll. Gone are the days
when first Willy Brandt and then Schmidt, both men with a
chrisma of their own, could play the role of an honoured
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““translator’’ between the two Super Powers. Although Chan-
cellor Schmidt agreed to the deployment of Cruise and Persh-
ing missiles on German soil, when smaller Holland and Bel-
gium had dithered, President Reagan’s ban on the Soviet
pipeline from Siberia to Western Europe is liable to hurt Ger-
man industry. No wonder Chancellor Kohl should have
called for “respect of contracts already concluded”. That
assurance is meant for the West German Trade Unions, which
unlike their counterparts in England have so far supported
the Federal Government in Bonn and which may in future
.prove to be a headache for Chancellor Kohl.

Chancellor Kohl’s declared resolve for “the establish-
ment of friendly and co-operative relations with the U.S.” 1s
no less significant. Co-operation with the United States
which bears as much as 53% of the NATO defence budget
and keeps a large number of American soldiers on the Ger-
man soil, is one of the constants of Bonn’s foreign policy.
However, the price tag at times tends to be excessive. One

such occasion was the Arab- Israeli war in October 1973,
when the American Administration, intent upon making up

Israeli losses in a hurry, decided to move military stores from
its West German depots. This infuriated the Arab states.
They lost no time in making it known in Bonn that unless
this transfer of stores was stopped forthwith, they may be
forced to place an embargo on oil supplies to West Germany .
The warning was heeded at once, and Israeli ships heading for
Hamburg and Bremenhaven were turned back mid-steam.
There was an uproar in Washington and Fel Aviv, but Bonn
held fast to its national interest. It was not long afterwards
that the story about the East German spy broke, and Chan-
cellor Willy Brandt was forced to resign. Perhaps he had not
heard of the saying in these parts that in an elephant’s foot
lies every body else’s foot.
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QUEST FOR NUCLEAR INDEPENDENCE :
THE ENRICHMENT PROCESS

I have only a nodding acquaintenceship with Dr. A. Q.
Khan, as during my daily walk, I occasionally see him quietly
tending his roses and tulips. However, metaphorically our
paths have crossed as I was Pakistan’s Ambassador in The
Hague when the international controversy over his alleged
pivotal role in Pakistan’s development of centrifuge uranium
enrichment technology broke out with sensational hypoth-
eses as to how we ‘‘stole” uranium from Niger, the technolo-
gy for its enrichment from the Netherlands and machinery
from all over Europe, charges which reverberate till today.

Since, over the years, I have concerned myself with the
economic and strategic necessity of developing our nuclear
programme, I was able actively to rebut these presumptions
in meetings with the Dutch authorities and with detailed
interviews in Dutch newspapers. That combined with the
traditional Dutch legal sense of fair play may have contri-
buted to the Dutch Inter-ministeral Working Party, which
had been set up in March 1979, concluding in its published
report to the Parliament that Dr. A. Q. Khan had stolen no-
thing, had no legal case to answer and that the enrichment
process being developed by Pakistan could have been based
on other widely published and openly available sources.

Now three years later a Duch Court has indicted, In
absentia, Dr. A. Q. Khan to a four year prison sentence for
his two open letters to former colleagues in a company
with which Pakistan was openly transacting commercial

54




Quest for Nuclear Independence 55

business. The Court utilized an obscure Dutch statute which
makes it an offence to attempt to obtain classified infor-
mation. As the written judgement has been reserved we can
only deal with the broad principles involved. I feel that the
people of Pakistan on whom it reflects have a right to know
the issues at stake, technical, political and legal:

(1) What has been the non-proliferation policy of the deve-
loped world, especially since the Indian explosion of
1974, and on what assumptions has it been based on?

(2) What is centrifuge technology, what research work is it
based on and what does it owe to Holland and its Troika
partners in Urenco-centrec, the U.K. and West Ger-
many?

(3) What is the history of the diffusion of knowledge in
nuclear technology and what role has been played by
expatriate scientists? and lastly,

(4) What are the legal principles involved and how best
should Pakistan meet this continuing challenge to its
self-respect?

Non-proliferation policy can be broadly divided into .
three stages. Phase -1 was characterised by technological
restraints adopted by the US, UK and Canada during and
after World War II coupled with the only initiative for uni-
versal non-proliferation and international control, the Lilen-
that-Brauch plan, for which common ground could not be
found with the USSR. Technological secrecy was overtaken
by the worldwide discovery of uranium resources and the
growing military nuclear programmes of the USSR, the UK
and France. In stage II, the US reversed its policy and spread
nuclear technology through its Atoms for Peace Programme
in the 50s and 60s. on the institutional side the NPT was
negotiated in 1970 primarily to bring in West Germany and
Japan by promising them the nuclear technology to develop
their economic and strategic capabilities provided they did
not go nuclear.
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Phase III began with the Indian nuclear explosion. The
US orchestrated the developed world response. There was no
concern for the already completed and unsafeguarded capa-
bilities of India, CIRUS reactor had been supplied by Canada
and its heavy water by the US and it provided the pluton-
ium for its nuclear explosion. France supplied Israel with an
equivalent reactor at Dimona as well as with reprocessing
technology. James Angleton’s CIA Israeli desk reportedly
gave Israel nuclear weapons construction plans. Israel stole
weapons grade enriched fuel from the American Apollo plant
and hijacked 300 tons of European uranium fuel. South
Africa developed its own enrichment process at Pelindaba
and Valindaba as an off shoot of West Germany’s Becker
jet-nozzle system. A Vela Satellite scan shows the possibility
of a completed joint South African-Israeli nuclear test.
Instead, France cancelled sales of reprocessing plants to
South Korea and to Pakistan despite in the latter case IAEA
safeguards and approval. Canada violated its contract to
supply nuclear fuel for Pakistan’s Canadian built KANUPP
reactor.

The developed countries got together first under the
Zanger Committee and then under the secret London Club
which evolved into the Nuclear Suppliers Group to evolve a
common policy of restraints against the supply of *“‘sensitive’
nuclear technologies ranging from reactors to pencil quality
graphite. This group spanned the ideological spectrum from
the USA to the USSR. Nonproliferation policy had turned
full circle back to a policy of technological denial instead of
concentrating on developing political incentives. The funda-
mental premise of the NPT was annuled. Signing the NPT
no longer guaranteed access to nuclear technology. It could
still be denied or even destroyed,as NPT signatories, Libya
and Iraq, have found to their cost.

During this period the cost of uranium increased, the
US failed to guarantee its enrichment contracts for nuclear
fuel supplies, oil prices shot up and complacency based on
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cheap energy was shattered. There was a growing perception
in the developed world that its economic security lay in the
next step in nuclear development, enriching its own fuel
and reprocessing it to extract plutonium for recycling and for
breeder reactors. The US did not oppose uranium enrich-
ment because it felt that it would be confined to the develo-
ped world, and would be beyond the technological capability
of the developing countries. Hence the US concentrated its
non-proliferation crusade against the spread of plutonium
reprocessing technology because it lay within the technolo-
‘gical competence of a number of developing countries

s as India had shown in 1966.

That is why the disclosure in 1979 of Pakistan’s nascent
enrichment effort caused such a psychological shock to the
developed world. Instead of recognising that its policy was
based on the wrong assumptions it found it easier to ration-
alize this failure by claiming that the technology had been
stolen.

Let us now turn to the history of enrichment. In 1930
Otto Hahn had discovered fission, and it became apparent
that great amounts of energy could be released, possibly
for destructive purposes, given sufficient quantities of refined
fissile material, either plutonium 239 or uranium 235. Plu-
tonium 239 can only be produced by reprocessing fuel irri-
dated in a recactor. Uranium 235 exists in natural uranium
but only to the extent of a 0.7% concentration. Light Water
Reactors which predominate today require fuel enriched to
3% while nuclear weapons require at least a 90-95% enrich-
ment of around 11 kg for a modest bomb. Many avenues
were explored to enrich uranium. All began by converting
it to the gas uranium hexaflouride.

Gravitational or centrifuge separation for gases was
first carried out by Breding in 1895 and Lindemann in 1919
who suggested its use for isotope enrichment. Basically the
method is the same as used in cream separation, a container is
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given centrifugal acceleration so that the heavier components
spin to the outside while the lighter fractions concentrate
on theinside. The earliest relevant work was done by Prof.
Breams in 1934 at the University of Virginia. During the war
the US concentrated on the alternate gaseous diffusion
method which was more rewarding at that time. Even so US
scientists such as Karl Cohen conceptually further developed

the centrifuge process.

In Nazi Germany thanks to the efforts of Martin, Har-
teck, Beyerle, Steenbeck and certain Dutch collaborators,by
1942 centrifuge enrichment of small quantities of uranium
was achieved. In 1945 the Soviets put Prof. Steenbeck and
his compatriot Dr. Gernot Zippe to work on centrifuge
enrichment at Suchumi near the Black Sea. Zippe designed
the thin-walled rotor needle centrifuge which finally made
centrifuge enrichment possible. Steenbeck went back to the
GDR while Zippe ended up in the US where the Atomic
Energy Commission gave him a contract to work on centri-
fuge enrichment at the University of Virginia. The US
Government itself published his definitive and seminal work
on enrichment, the “Zippe report”’, in 1960 as US report
ORO 315 which forms the basis of all subsequent and current
work in this field.

When the Europeans were looking for a process to
enrich fuel for their reactors once the US had displayed its
unreliability as a supplier, they were drawn to the centrifuge
process because all the theoretical work had been done,
the capital costs were much less than for gaseous diffusion,
power requirements 90% less and the main draw back up
till now, materials unreliability had been solved by the
development of new high specific strength materials such as
titanium, aluminium alloys, marging steel and composite
materials utilising carbon and glass fibres.

The Netherlands, UK and West Germany set up a con-
sortium, URENCO—Centrec, to enrich fuel. All three coun-
tries developed prototypes. The German model was chosen
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for production in the Netherlands at Almelo. Dr. A. Q. Khan
had originally gone to Europe to study in Berlin. He met and
married a lady of Dutch descent and together they went
to finish his studies at Delft University from where he went
to complete his Ph. D. at Louvain in Belgium. He was sub-
sequently employed as a metallurgist by the FDO in Holland.
His expertise was limited to materials some of which may
have been used in the Dutch centrifuge prototype which was
.rejected by the Urenco Troika. Subsequently, according to
the official Dutch report he was asked in 1974 to translate
two unimportant reports from German into Dutch out of
' twelve separate German reports for starting production of the
German prototype. For sixteen working days he was housed
in a building outside the Almelo factory and only allowed
access to its non-classified cafetaria and rest rooms. The
report concludes that because of these factors and because
of his diligence in translating two Germany manuals in 128
hours he could not have had any opportunity to concern
himself with any other matter. The consortium owes a debt
to Dr. A. Q. Khan’s contribution as obviously he was one of
the few scientists with adequate Dutch and German language
capability. '

All that Urenco established was that it was now possible
to centrifuge enriched uranium at an economically competi-
tive price compared to gaseous diffusion. Any other country
wishing to develop a research enrichment programme would
only find the Almelo experience relevant if it wished to go
in for mass production for export. Crudely put; it would cost
a country 65 million dollars to develop a research facility
based on the Zippe report and 60 million dollars based
on the Almelo refinements of scale. The economic penalty is

insignificant.
EXAMINATION

It might be pertinent to examine the diffusion of
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nuclear technology. In the US the expatriate Hungarian
scientists, Wigner and Slizard, drafted the letter for the Ger-
man Swiss Einstein to sign and to send to President Roosevelt
on the necessity of developing an Atom Bomb which initia-
ted the American effort. The actual research was perhaps
80% due to expatriate Hungarian, Danish, Norwegian, Dutch,
Austrian and German scientists. Americans such as Oppenhei-
mer, Lawrence and Seaborg stand out in the minority com-
pared to Fermi, Slizard, Franck, Niels Bohr, Goudsmit, Von
Neumann, Lars Onsager, Hans Bethe and their many British
and Canadian fellow researchers. It was another foreigner,
the Hungarian Teller, who discovered the concept behind
the next nuclear weapon development, the Hydrogen Bomb,
and the German, Wemer Von Braun, whose V2 rockets
developed at Peenemunde killed and wounded 8375 UK
citizens during the war, gave the US the rockets behind
its satellites and ICBMs.

Technological denial, to the consternation of the US,
could not prevent the first Soviet Atomic pile going critical
on Christmas eve of 1946, its first nuclear explosion in 1949,
its Hydrogen Bomb in 1952 at the same time as the US and
the world’s first civilian nuclear power plant in 1954, due to
Kurchatovs team. This policy could not also prevent the UK
and France quickly developing and demonstrating their own
capabilities. China, in turn, astonished the world by be-
coming the first country to enter the nuclear club by
utilising enriched uranium from its Lanchow gaseous diffu-
sion plant.

This is not to say that low enrichment such as that
practised at Almelo is the-same as high enrichment. An
Almelo type prccess would require some 12 to 15 passes
through a cascade of centrifuges to produce 3% enriched fuel
utilising what is known as 4.3 separative work units or SWU
per kg produced. Highly enriched 90% uranium would
require some 65-75 passes utilising approximately 250
SWU per kg, an exponential increase in difficulty. The main
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problem behind centrifuge enrichment remains the constant
prospect of materials damage and destructive failure propa-
gating to neighbouring units. For example, if 200 centrifu-
ges are used for low enrichment the break down of ten of
them will only lead to the loss of some 10% of low enriched
fuel. However, if 20 centrifuges are being used for the last
pass the brerk down of even one of them may loose 40% of
the highly enriched batch. Furthermore, apart from fast
 cascade connection changes, high enrichment also requires
completely different restructuring to take into account
criticality or the danger of having too much fissile material
~, “together in case it starts to fission by itself. High enrichment
impinges on the frontiers of metallurgical and centrifuge
research and technology. In this field Pakistan has no proven
model to emulate should it decide to pursue